Case No. 82078

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC,
A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY
COMPANY,

Appellant,

vs.

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC, A
DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY
COMPANY,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed
Jul 28 2021 02:24 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable MARY KAY HOLTHUS, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-13-684715-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10593

DIANA S. EBRON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10580

KIM GILBERT EBRON
7625 Dean Martin Drive, Suite 110
Las Vegas, Nevada 89139
Telephone: (702) 485-3300
Facsimile: (702) 485-3301

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A, as the Order granting Nationstar Mortgage LLC’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Denying SFR’s Motion to Strike, was entered on October 6, 2020 (14JA_3233-3244), notice of entry of which was entered the same day (14JA_3216-3231), disposed of all claims remaining following remand.¹ SFR timely appealed on November 5, 2020. (14JA_3252-3254.)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court because it raises questions of statewide public importance.² Further, this case should remain with the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17 (a)(13)-(14), because it raises issues of first impression.

On Wednesday, June 23, 2021, the Supreme Court of the United States issued its opinion in *Collins v. Yellen*,³ determining that the FHFA's structure as set forth in HERA violates the separation of powers and is therefore, unconstitutional. The U.S. Supreme Court remanded to determine what remedy was available under the

¹ The prior judgment of this Court was vacated and the matter remanded to this court for proceedings consistent with the Order Vacating and Remanding entered on October 24, 2019, in Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 75890.

² See NRAP 17(a)(2).

³ *Collins v. Yellen*, Case No. 19-422, 594 U.S. ___ (2021).

constitutional claim. This Court must decide whether remand is appropriate to determine damages to SFR caused by the unconstitutional structure of the FHFA.

Besides the constitutional issue that requires remand, this appeal addresses the question whether Nationstar met its burden to prove and conclude that Freddie Mac had the required ownership interest and servicing relationship with the deed of trust beneficiaries/servicers required under *Berezovsky*⁴ such that 12 U.S.C. §4617(j)(3) applied, especially in light of this Court’s opinion in *Morning Springs*,⁵ relying on the Ninth Circuit’s opinion in *M&T Bank*.⁶ Further, this appeal addresses whether SFR was improperly denied discovery into these essential elements and whether Freddie Mac and Nationstar’s refusal to fully cooperate in discovery should have resulted in striking of the Declaration of Dean Meyer.

Here, the district court in making its findings and conclusions on the record stated Nationstar had an interest in the Property through its contractual servicing relationship with Freddie Mac and as the beneficiary of record of the Deed of Trust, but it refused to compel production of the actual contract evidencing the relationship

⁴ *Berezovsky v. Moniz*, 869 F.3d 923 (9th Cir. 2017).

⁵ *JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC*, 136 Nev. Adv. Op. 68, 475 P.3d 52 (2020) (“*Morning Springs*”).

⁶ *M&T Bank v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC*, 963 F.3d 854, 858 (9th Cir. 2020), *cert. denied sub nom. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC v. M&T Bank*, No. 20-908, 2021 WL 1602655 (U.S. Apr. 26, 2021).

or to force Nationstar and Freddie Mac to cooperate in discovery, which would have provided SFR the opportunity to challenge the business records submitted by Nationstar to evidence said relationship.⁷

In making its findings and conclusions, the district court also concluded that, at the time of the Association Foreclosure Sale (“Sale”), Freddie Mac was the owner of the Deed of Trust (“DOT”) and Promissory Note (“Note”), using Freddie Mac’s business records and the Dean Meyer testimony, despite the harm caused by Nationstar/Freddie Mac’s obstructive behavior regarding discovery into the issue. (14JA_3233-3244.) While evidence similar to that proffered by Nationstar has been accepted by this Court as sufficient to prove Freddie Mac’s property interest, this Court recent ruling in *Morning Springs*, relying on the Ninth Circuit’s opinion in *M&T Bank*,⁸—that claims such as those herein are wholly dependent on contracts in the form of the deed of trust and the promissory note it secures—altered the legal landscape. SFR filed a motion to compel production of the DOT and Promissory

⁷ SFR sought to compel production of the Note, any contract(s) showing the agency relationship, and complete testimony regarding all deposition topics, among other things. Alternatively, SFR sought additional discovery or to have the declaration of Freddie Mac’s undisclosed witness and related documents stricken to limit the harm caused by Nationstar/Freddie Mac’s obstructive behavior regarding discovery. The District Court determined any failed disclosure was harmless, declined to address the obstruction and declared SFR’s motion to compel moot. (14JA_3233-3244.)

⁸ *M&T Bank*, 963 F.3d at 858.

Note in this case, and likewise demanded their production by way of NRCP 56(f) relief (7JA_1538-1672), but this request was denied (14JA_3240), resulting in an abuse of discretion that prejudiced SFR because the ownership element was unresolved based on the unproduced Note.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether this Court should remand for further proceedings to determine compensable harm to SFR caused by the unconstitutional structure of the FHFA?
2. Whether the District Court erred in allowing and relying on evidence in the form of the Declaration of Dean Meyer and related documents as proof of Freddie Mac's ownership of the loan and servicing relationship with Nationstar, denying SFR's Motion to Strike and determining the untimely disclosure of Dean Meyer was harmless despite Nationstar/Freddie Mac's obstructive behavior regarding discovery.
3. Whether the District Court erred in declaring SFR's Motion to Compel Moot and concluded that Freddie Mac owned the loan, even though Nationstar/Freddie Mac refused to produce the original wet-ink signature promissory note with any endorsements ("Note")—this despite the fact that the Note was made directly relevant to the question of Freddie Mac's

ownership by this Court's holding in *Morning Springs* relying on the principle in *M&T Bank*, that claims such as those made by Nationstar here were entirely dependent on the property interest created by the Note.

4. Whether the District Court erred in determining Nationstar met its burden to prove Fannie Mae had a contractual servicing relationship with Nationstar during all relevant times by relying only on the Guide and not requiring proof in the form of the actual servicing agreement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The real property located at 663 Moonlight Stroll Street, Henderson, Nevada 89002 (the “Property”) was subject to foreclosure pursuant to the provisions of Nev. Rev. Stat. § (“NRS”) 116.3116, *et seq.* (14JA_3234.) Specifically, Horizon Heights Homeowners Association (the “Association”), through its foreclosure agent, Nevada Association Services, Inc. (“NAS”) foreclosed on its lien for delinquent homeowner’s association assessments on April 5, 2013, resulting in a sale at public auction to SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC (“SFR”) as the highest bidder. (14JA_3236.)

On July 8, 2013, former homeowner, Ignacio Gutierrez (“Gutierrez”), filed its Complaint against SFR, NAS, the Association, and original lender KB Home Mortgage Company for wrongful foreclosure and declaratory relief. (1JA_0001-0010). On August 2, 2013, SFR filed an Answer to Complaint, Counterclaim against Gutierrez, and Third Party Complaint against Nationstar Mortgage, LLC (“the Bank”)⁹ and Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. (“Countrywide”) for Quiet Title, Unjust Enrichment and Injunctive Relief. (1JA_0012-0026.) Bank of America (“BANA”), claiming it was successor in interest to third-party defendant

⁹ Unless otherwise stated, “the Bank” includes Nationstar and its predecessors in interest.

Countrywide, filed an Answer to SFR’s Third Party Complaint on October 8, 2014. (1JA_0065-0068.) Although later alleging that Federal National Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”) had owned the loan and the deed of trust since August of 2005, and that MERS as nominee assigned the deed of trust to BANA, BANA, who was allegedly an agent of Freddie Mac, did not assert any of these facts or an affirmative defense of 12 U.S.C. §4617(j)(3) (“Federal Foreclosure Bar” or “Bar”). (1JA_0065-0068.) It was not until Nationstar filed its answer, almost a year later, that the Bank asserted that the Deed of Trust as to this Property was precluded from extinguishment by the Bar. (1JA_0070-0075.)

The district court originally entered summary judgment in favor of SFR concluding that Nationstar lacked standing to raise the Bar as a defense.¹⁰ The Bank appealed.¹¹ This Court authored a published opinion in that case, holding a servicer of a regulated entity (such as Freddie Mac) has standing to raise the Bar.¹² However, the Court remanded for the district court to determine (1) whether Freddie Mac had an ownership interest in the loan and (2) whether there was an actual, contractual

¹⁰ *Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC*, 133 Nev. 247, 249, 396 P.3d 754, 756 (2017).

¹¹ *Id.*

¹² *Id.* at 758.

relationship between Nationstar and Freddie Mac.¹³ The Court also remanded to allow Nationstar to introduce evidence to support any equitable claim.¹⁴

Following remittitur, and over SFR's objection, on July 19, 2017, the district court granted the Bank's motion to reopen discovery for 90 days—until October 17, 2017—to allow it to supplement disclosures and therefore, allow SFR to depose additional witnesses based on those disclosures. Despite having this extra time, the Bank failed to disclose Dean Meyer, an employee of Freddie Mac, or his Declaration. (4JA_0886-00962.)

On November 15, 2017, the Bank filed a Motion for Summary Judgment against SFR SFR's claims. (1JA_0083-2JA_0356.) In it, the Bank relied on Mr. Meyer's undisclosed declaration in an attempt to authenticate Freddie Mac's computer screen shots. (1JA_083-2JA_0356.) On November 16, 2017, SFR filed its Motion for Summary Judgment against the Bank on its claims and against the Bank's claims. (2JA_0358-4JA_0872.) On December 14, 2017, SFR opposed the Bank's Motion for Summary Judgment and filed a Countermotion to Strike the belatedly disclosed Declaration of Dean Meyer, employee of Freddie Mac, and all arguments related to it. (4JA_0886-0962.) The declaration executed on November

¹³ *Id.*

¹⁴ *Id.*

10, 2017, well after the close of the extended discovery period and well before it was ultimately belatedly disclosed on November 29, 2017, after hours, almost 45 days after the end of extended discovery. (*See* 1JA_0133-2JA_0288.)

Following full briefing and a hearing held on January 17, 2018, the district court took the matter under advisement, and issued its detailed minute order on January 31, 2018. (5JA_1128-1130.) The district court found that Nationstar was Freddie's servicer based on screen shots from Nationstar's computer system, and that SFR had not shown that FHFA had consented to the foreclosure and, therefore, the Bar applied. (5JA_1128-1140.) Thus, it concluded that SFR took title to the Property subject to the deed of trust. (5JA_1132-1140.) As to the equity claims, the district court found that the Bank failed to provide actual evidence of fraud, oppression or unfairness as to the conduct of the sale and, therefore the sale was "commercially reasonable," that there was no basis to set aside the sale. (5JA_1138-1140.) The District Court also denied as moot SFR's Countermotion to Strike, based on its decision to determine Freddie's ownership based on the form deed of trust. (5JA_1130).

SFR appealed the District Court decision and ultimately this Court issued an order vacating and remanding the matter for further proceedings. This Court determined it could not affirm the District Court's summary judgment based solely

on the evidence provided similar to that in *Daisy Trust*¹⁵ and the existing record in this case,¹⁶ specifically because SFR sought to strike Dean Meyer as a witness and his accompanying declaration due to its late disclosure, and the District Court did not explicitly base its denial of SFR's motion to strike on a conclusion that the delayed disclosures were substantially justified or harmless.

On remand the parties filed supplemental briefing. (5JA_1165-6JA_1268.) After a hearing, the parties stipulated to reopen discovery. After some difficulty, SFR was eventually able to depose Dean Meyer, though Mr. Meyer willfully ignored and refused to prepare for multiple deposition topics. (7JA_1568-1571.) Nationstar moved for summary judgment (6JA1270-1536) and SFR opposed, also filing a renewed motion to strike based on Nationstar and Freddie Mac's refusal to fully cooperate in discovery, arguing that an ill-prepared deponent creating an obstacle to meaningful discovery into the declaration and summary screen shots did not mitigate the harm that had been caused by Nationstar's failure to disclose in the first place. (7JA_1538-9JA_2076.) In other words, SFR argued that the whole purpose of the second remand was to determine if the Court found Nationstar's

¹⁵ *Daisy Trust v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 135 Nev. 230, 445 P.3d 846 (2019).

¹⁶ Nationstar provided compute printouts from Freddie Mac's database and attempted to authenticate those printouts with a declaration from Dean Meyer, similar to what was deemed acceptable in *Daisy Trust*. However, in this case there were issues regarding the admissibility of said evidence.

failure to disclose Freddie Mac “harmless” and based on what had occurred since remand, not only was the failure disclosure NOT harmless, the harm had not been mitigated by additional discovery. (7JA_1538-9JA_2076.)

SFR explained Nationstar first refused to produce Freddie Mac without a subpoena. (7JA1538-1554; 1568-1571; 7JA1674-9JA2076.) Then, without obtaining a protective order, Freddie Mac refused to produce the documents SFR subpoenaed and refused to prepare for the topics listed in the notice. (7JA1538-1554, 1568-1571; 7JA1674-9JA2076.) SFR posited that if this Court did not intend for SFR to have the opportunity to challenge the “screen shots” upon which the late declaration had been based, it would not have remanded. (7JA1538-1554.) Nationstar and Freddie Mac’s refusal to cooperate in discovery warranted striking the Meyer declaration. (7JA1538-1554.) SFR requested the Court find the failure to disclose was not harmless, nor substantially justified. (7JA1538-1554.) SFR further requested their refusal to participate in discovery meant that harm could not be mitigated. (7JA1538-1554.)

Finally, SFR argued it would still need to complete additional discovery even if the Meyer declaration and documents were not stricken, seeking 56(d) relief and asking the Court to compel production of the original, wet-ink signature promissory note, the production of the subpoenaed documents by Freddie Mac and further deposition testimony regarding the subpoenaed documents. (7JA_1556-1672.)

Upon consideration of the summary judgment briefing, as well as SFR's renewed motion to strike and motion to compel, the District Court concluded the late disclosure of Dean Meyer was harmless as SFR was permitted to depose Mr. Meyer during a reopened discovery period; but, the District Court did not address SFR's argument regarding the obstructionist behavior of Nationstar and Freddie Mac during the reopened discovery period. (14JA_3233-3244.) Based on the same evidence it considered prior to the second remand, the District Court further concluded Freddie Mac was the owner of the Deed of Trust and Note at the time of the foreclosure sale and Nationstar was its servicer at relevant times. (14JA_3233-3244.) Finally, the District Court deemed SFR's motion to compel additional testimony and documents moot and therefore denied. (14JA_3240.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES SUBMITTED FOR REVIEW

After this matter was remanded the second time, as a measure to mitigate the harm caused by Nationstar's failure to timely disclose Dean Meyer and his declaration and supporting documents, SFR was permitted additional discovery into Freddie Mac's alleged ownership of the loan and the servicing relationship between Freddie Mac and the record beneficiaries of the Deed of Trust. (14JA_3237.) Despite further discovery being ordered, upon request by SFR to Nationstar to produce Freddie Mac for deposition, Nationstar refused without a subpoena. (7JA_1538-1554, 1568-1571.) Due to the pandemic, it took additional time to subpoena Freddie

Mac, as well as MERS for documents needed to challenge the information contained in screen shots from Freddie Mac's system. (7JA_1568-1571.)

When a deposition was finally scheduled for Freddie Mac and topics in the deposition notice were provided, neither Nationstar nor Freddie Mac sought to meet and confer to object to any of the topics. (7JA_1538-1554, 1568-1571; 14JA_3191-3200.) Nor did either party seek or obtain a protective order for the deposition or subpoena duces tecum. (7JA_1538-1554, 1568-1571; 14JA_3191-3200.) Nonetheless, at the deposition, SFR was faced with a deponent in Mr. Meyer that intentionally did not prepare for topic 2 and 3 (contracts between Nationstar and Freddie Mac and custodial agreements between Freddie Mac and any document custodian related to the original promissory note). (7JA_1538-1554, 1568-1571; 14JA_3191-3200.) Similarly, Freddie Mac refused to produce documents related to the same topics. (7JA_1538-1672; 14JA_3191-3200.)

Based on Freddie Mac's and Nationstar's refusal to cooperate in discovery, SFR renewed its motion to strike the Meyer declaration, requesting the District Court find that the failure to disclose was not harmless, nor substantially justified and that Nationstar's and Freddie Mac's refusal to participate in discovery meant that the harm could not be mitigated. (7JA_1538-1554, 1568-1571.) SFR further sought 56(d) relief as an alternative, compelling production of the original Note and servicing contracts. (7JA_1556-1672.) SFR took the position that to be able to

meaningfully challenge the summary screen shots attached to the Meyer Declaration, SFR needed access to the actual contracts upon which the screen shots were based. (7JA_1538-1672.) This was particularly true because, in the limited discovery SFR was able to obtain, SFR received a portion of the documents it subpoenaed from MERS regarding the loan.¹⁷ (7JA_1571.) MERS is the registration and tracking system that banks use instead of recording every assignment of the Deed of Trust in the public records. (7JA_1666-162.) The MERS system tracks both the transfer of servicing rights and the transfer of the investor rights. (7JA_1666-162.) The investor is the owner of the loan. The servicer is the entity that conducts the day-to-day operation of the loan, interacting with the borrower, collecting payments, and protecting the deed of trust. (7JA_1538-1554, 1666-1672.) **The MERS milestones in this case contradict the Meyer Declaration in that it does not show Freddie Mac obtaining an interest in 2005.** (7JA_1666-1672.) The loan in this case was originated by KB Home Mortgage Corporation. According to the MERS milestones, in 2005, the beneficial rights were transferred from KB Home Mortgage Company to Bank of America, N.A., not Freddie Mac. (7JA_1666-1672.) The servicing rights were not transferred from KB Home Mortgage Company to

¹⁷ Due to problems beyond SFR's control including problems obtaining a subpoena from Virginia during the pandemic and subsequent service issues that SFR only became aware of after it was too late to reserve the subpoena.

Bank of America, N.A. until 2007. (7JA_1666-1672.) In addition, there was no transfer in the MERS system to Freddie Mac until April 24, 2012. (7JA_1666-162.) Nationstar is not mentioned anywhere in the MERS milestones. (7JA_1666-162.)

Further, summary screen shots show the loan as “inactive” beginning in 2012. (1JA_083-2JA_0356.) According to the servicing guide, “Inactivation is the process the Servicer may complete to suspend remitting funds to Freddie mac for a Mortgage in foreclosure.” (2JA_0155-0241.) However, there are no publicly recorded documents evidencing a foreclosure.

Finally, the screen shot purporting to show Nationstar as the current servicer contradicts Nationstar’s sworn testimony that it purportedly has a written power of attorney with Freddie Mac. *See* (1JA_0146-0147.) (noting “NO” next to “Power of Attorney”). The purported “Loan Status *Manager* Mortgage Payment History Report” attached as Ex. 5 to Bank’s Ex. B (1JA_0148-0153), has disappearing columns, numbers that simply do not add up and was also generated in July 2017. Further, the same document shows the loan as “inactive” in November 2012, before the foreclosure sale and shortly after Nationstar was supposed to have become the servicer. (1JA_0148-0153.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

According to the Supreme Court of the United States, the structure of the FHFA violates the separation of powers and is therefore, unconstitutional. Under

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