IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Sep 27 2021 06:44 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Case No. 8 Plerk of Supreme Court

VS.

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC, A DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Respondent.

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Mary Kay Holthus, District Judge District Court Case No. A-13-684715-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

MELANIE D. MORGAN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 8215 SCOTT R. LACHMAN ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 12016

DONNA M. WITTIG, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 11015

ARIEL E. STERN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 8276

AKERMAN LLP

1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court correctly held that the Federal Foreclosure Bar protected Freddie Mac's Deed of Trust from extinguishment through the HOA Sale. SFR's arguments on appeal are meritless, and this Court should reject them.

SFR appeals the entry of summary judgment against it, largely on grounds that were neither presented to nor passed upon by the district court: that the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Collins* provides a basis for remand so that the district court may "consider[] ... damages caused by the actions of [FHFA's] Director." AOB at 11. SFR's attempt to introduce the question into this litigation fails as a procedural matter; SFR cannot raise that new argument on appeal. Regardless, the new argument would not succeed even if the Court were inclined to consider it, because SFR never pled a claim or defense that turns on an action taken by the FHFA Director. And any attempt to amend the pleadings on remand would be

futile because SFR cannot link the removal provision to anything that happened in this case. FHFA's Director neither took any affirmative action with respect to the Deed of Trust nor effectuated any "policy change" that might have been different but for the removal provision.

SFR also challenges the evidentiary basis for the district court's ruling that the Federal Foreclosure Bar protected the Deed of Trust from extinguishment through the HOA Sale. First, SFR argues that recent decisions by this Court and the Ninth Circuit render "production of the Note ... essential" to establishing Freddie Mac's ownership of the loan. But recent case law has not altered the evidentiary requirements this Court set out in *Daisy Trust*, where it concluded that neither a promissory note nor a servicing contract had to be produced to establish an Enterprise's loan ownership or relationship with its loan servicer. See Daisy Trust, 445 P.3d at 850–51. Second, SFR argues that the district court erred in denying its motion to strike Mr. Meyer's declaration, insisting that the belated disclosure of that particular witness was not harmless. That argument fails; SFR suffered no prejudice from the belated disclosure of Freddie Mac's declarant. The business records Mr. Meyer authenticates in his declaration were disclosed during discovery, SFR had the same opportunity to depose Mr. Meyer that it would have had if the declaration had been disclosed prior to summary judgment, and SFR is

by now well versed in interpreting Freddie Mac records and did not need Mr. Meyer's testimony to understand what those records show.

This case has been pending for far too long. SFR has done everything it can to avoid the conclusion this Court has reached in many other cases raising the same questions based on the same evidence: that the Federal Foreclosure Bar applied to preserve Freddie Mac's deed of trust. The evidence and legal issues pled and argued in the district court (and twice in this Court) demonstrate that the same outcome is warranted here. Yet SFR continues to draw out this litigation by manufacturing evidentiary objections and declaring prejudice. In addition to those well-worn and discredited tactics, SFR now asserts a constitutional claim it has never argued nor pled and that has nothing to do with this case. SFR has run out of arguments that have even a thin veneer of plausibility, and this Court should promptly bring this action to a final conclusion by affirming the district court's decision.

ARGUMENT

I. The Case Should Not Be Remanded for Consideration of a Belated Constitutional Argument That Is Irrelevant to the Claims Asserted

A. SFR Has Forfeited the Argument

SFR's Opening Brief sketches out a new argument that relies on *Collins v*. *Yellen*, a U.S. Supreme Court decision voiding, based on separation-of-powers principles, HERA's "for-cause" removal provision applicable to FHFA's Director.

141 S. Ct. at 1787 (describing 12 U.S.C. § 4512). The Supreme Court nevertheless confirmed that this structural defect left "no basis for concluding that any head of the FHFA lacked authority to carry out the functions of the office," because each Director was properly appointed. *Id.* at 1788. SFR nevertheless now contends that it "has standing to challenge [FHFA's] decisions and to seek retroactive damages for decisions made under [FHFA's] unconstitutional structure," including a purported decision to "significantly change the prior policy of consent" to the foreclosure of Enterprise interests through super-priority lien laws. *See* AOB at 10–11.

SFR never offered this argument in its district court pleadings or briefing: Not once did SFR suggest that FHFA's structure might be defective, much less that any such defect caused it harm. Indeed, SFR has not asserted any claim against FHFA, which is not a party to this case. Nor does SFR explain why it could not have challenged the removal provision in the district court, as the *Collins* appellants (and other parties in similar litigation) did years ago. SFR could have challenged FHFA's purported decision not to consent to the foreclosure of Enterprise liens through HOA sales—which SFR alleges took place in "late-2014/early-2015," *id.* at 17, after SFR had acquired title to the Property through the

2013 HOA Sale—any time thereafter.⁴ The fact that the Supreme Court had not yet ruled on the constitutionality of the removal clause did not preclude SFR from challenging FHFA's decision on separation-of-powers grounds.

This Court does not consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal. See Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52 (1981). This Court's rule is common to appellate practice, broken only in exceptional circumstances necessary to prevent manifest injustice. See, e.g., Padgett v. Wright, 587 F.3d 983, 986 (9th Cir. 2009) (citing Int'l Union of Bricklayers & Allied Craftsman Loc. Union No. 20, AFL-CIO v. Martin Jaska, Inc., 752 F.2d 1401, 1404 (9th Cir. 1985)). SFR does not claim such exceptional circumstances here, and none exist. All the facts necessary to plead a claim or assert an argument relating to the removal provision have been available since HERA was enacted in 2008, long before SFR commenced this action. SFR is a sophisticated and experienced litigant in cases like this that surely knew it could plead such a claim, and that it needed to plead the claim to preserve it. SFR never did so.

Nationstar does not mean to suggest that such a challenge would have been proper or meritorious if asserted immediately after FHFA announced its position on non-consent. For the reasons explained herein, that claim would still have been meritless if SFR had timely raised it.

Having failed to assert the removal-provision argument in the district court, SFR forfeited it. The Court should not countenance SFR's attempt to prolong this litigation by entertaining the argument now.

B. *Collins* Is Irrelevant to the Claims and Defenses in this Case

Even without SFR's forfeiture, a remand to assess whether SFR may recover "retroactive damages for decisions made under [FHFA's] unconstitutional structure," AOB at 10–11, would be unwarranted, because that argument has nothing to do with any claim or defense raised in this case. Nor can SFR amend its pleadings to find a way out of the problem—any theory that the removal clause caused SFR harm by preventing it from obtaining free-and-clear title to the Property through the HOA Sale would fail as a matter of law.

1. SFR Has Not Pled Any Claim or Defense Related to the For-Cause Removal Provision

SFR contends that under *Collins*, it may challenge FHFA's purported decision to "go against previous policies and practices of implicit consent to foreclosure under state super lien laws." *See id.* at 17. But those arguments are irrelevant to this case—SFR has not pled any claim or defense relating to the Director's decisions or FHFA's structure, and it has not alleged any harm flowing from the removal provision. Critically, SFR has not asserted *any* claim against FHFA, the party that—under SFR's new theory—took the action that supposedly

caused SFR harm. SFR cannot seek damages from an entity that is not a party to any claim, nor can it pursue damages against Nationstar for FHFA's actions.

Furthermore, a party cannot seek relief for a claim or defense it has not pled. Nevada is a notice-pleading jurisdiction that requires claims to be "sufficiently definite to give 'fair notice of the nature and basis or grounds of the claim and a general indication of the type of litigation involved." *Taylor v. State*, 73 Nev. 151, 152 (1957). A party must set forth "the facts which support his complaint." *Liston v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't*, 111 Nev. 1575, 1578–79 (1995); *accord Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (to survive a motion to dismiss, a plaintiff must plead factual allegations that "raise a right to relief above the speculative level"). Similarly, "an affirmative defense not raised in the pleadings is ordinarily deemed waived" unless the opposing party is given reasonable notice and an opportunity to respond. *Whealon v. Sterling*, 121 Nev. 662, 665–66 (2005).

SFR's pleadings provide no notice that it would make an argument related to FHFA Director action or the removal provision. That argument never appeared in SFR's answer, counterclaim, or third-party complaint (*see* 1JA_11-24), or in subsequent district court briefing. And it was not mentioned in SFR's notice of appeal or its case appeal statement. *See* 14JA_3245-54. SFR's attempt to graft a constitutional issue onto this appeal must fail in light of the counterclaims it *did*

assert: state-law claims for unjust enrichment, injunctive relief, and to quiet title. 1JA_15-24.

2. SFR Cannot Add a *Collins*-Based Claim or Defense Now

Even if SFR were to move to amend the complaint on remand to assert a new claim and join a new party, that request would be denied as belated, prejudicial, and futile. *See MEI-GSR Holdings, Inc. v. Peppermill Casinos, Inc.*, 134 Nev. 235, 239 (2018) (describing factors for denying motion to amend).

A court may deny a motion to amend if the moving party unduly delayed in moving to amend or if amendment would seriously prejudice the opposing party. *See Kantor v. Kantor*, 116 Nev. 886, 891 (2000) (denying motion to amend filed on the eve of trial); *Performance Steel, Inc. v. Wallner Tooling/Expac, Inc.*, No. 79993, 2021 WL 2432537, at *5 (Nev. June 11, 2021) (unpublished disposition) (motion to amend may be denied if it would cause "serious prejudice").

a. Any Attempt to Amend Would Be Untimely and Prejudicial

SFR's amendment would be belated because it could have raised a challenge to FHFA's purported 2014 or 2015 decision not to consent to extinguish Enterprise liens through HOA sales any time after SFR alleges that decision was made. SFR likewise was free to challenge the removal provision at any time after it purchased the Property in 2013; the for-cause removal provision had already been enacted as part of HERA in 2008. And as all the facts necessary to raise such a claim were

public, SFR has no excuse for its delay. It is far too late to add new claims or to join FHFA as a party.

Compounding the unfairness of allowing SFR to introduce a new argument at this stage is the fact that any delay in final judgment allows SFR to rent out the Property at market rates, while Freddie Mac receives no return on its investment in the defaulted Loan the Property secures. *See* Respondent's Supplemental Appendix 1-6, Order, *Nationstar Mortg. LLC v. Saticoy Bay LLC, Series 9229 Millikan Ave.*, No. 19-17043 (9th Cir. Aug. 26, 2021) (recognizing that HOA sale purchaser "ha[d] a strong financial incentive to file appeals, even if those appeals are frivolous, because it continues to reap the economic benefit of holding title to the properties during prolonged litigation").

b. Any Attempt to Amend Would Be Futile

In addition to the procedural obstacles noted above, remand would be futile because SFR's new argument cannot succeed as a matter of law. *See Allum v. Valley Bank of Nev.*, 109 Nev. 280, 302 (1993) (holding that there is no abuse of discretion in denying motion for leave to amend when the proposed amendment would be futile). SFR contends that the FHFA Director "action" that should be evaluated following *Collins* is the "decision to change from a policy of consent to the operation of state super-lien laws" to a "new policy to run over state super priority laws with § 4617(j)(3)." AOB at 18. But SFR cannot deploy *Collins* as a

basis for a claim here because FHFA never made the "decision" SFR contends should be challenged, never took any action with respect to the Deed of Trust, and never changed its position on whether the Agency will consent to extinguish Enterprise liens through HOA foreclosures. Nor does SFR explain how such a decision would have caused it harm, or demonstrate that the decision would have been different but for the removal provision.

i. No FHFA Director's Action Caused SFR Harm

SFR's alleged harm—its inability to acquire free-and-clear title to the Property through the HOA Sale—results from the automatic operation of a federal statute, not from a FHFA Director's decision. The Federal Foreclosure Bar set a default rule: By law, Enterprise liens are automatically protected from extinguishment via a foreclosure, absent FHFA's affirmative consent. 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3). The Federal Foreclosure Bar, enacted in 2008, thus prevented the 2013 HOA Sale from extinguishing the Deed of Trust and providing SFR with clear title as a matter of law.

This Court acknowledged the point in confirming that Federal Foreclosure Bar-based claims and defenses do not turn on FHFA action. In *Christine View*, the Court held that "the Federal Foreclosure Bar does not require [the FHFA] to actively resist foreclosure," because the statute "cloaks the FHFA's 'property with Congressional protection unless or until the FHFA affirmatively relinquishes it."

Christine View, 417 P.3d at 368 (alterations omitted) (quoting Berezovsky v. Moniz, 869 F.3d 923, 929 (9th Cir. 2017)). The Court has reaffirmed that point in several decisions. E.g., BDJ Invs., LLC v. Ditech Fin. LLC, 472 P.3d 194 (Nev. 2020). And just as FHFA had no duty to "actively resist foreclosure" for the Federal Foreclosure Bar to apply, Freddie Mac and its servicer did not need to defend against the foreclosure sale. M&T Bank v. Wild Calla St. Tr., 437 P.3d 1054 (Nev. 2019). Thus, neither FHFA nor its Director needed to act for the Deed of Trust to survive the HOA Sale, and neither did.

Moreover, SFR does not, because it cannot, point to any decision by FHFA to either start or stop consenting to the extinguishment of Enterprise liens; instead, it contends that a public statement made by FHFA articulated a change in policy from "implicit consent" to express non-consent. AOB at 17. But the FHFA statement contradicts SFR's argument directly. It reads: "FHFA *confirms that it has not consented*, and will not consent in the future, to the foreclosure or other extinguishment of any [Enterprise] lien or other property interest in connection with HOA foreclosures of super-priority liens." 2015 Statement (emphasis added); see also Ditech Fin. LLC v. T-Shack, Inc., 850 F. App'x 529, 530 (9th Cir. 2021) (citing the 2015 Statement to support holding that FHFA "has declared publicly that it has not consented" to extinguish Enterprise liens). The 2015 Statement, which SFR relies on to support its contention that there was a change in policy,

AOB at 17, in fact says the opposite: that FHFA's practice would continue unchanged. Nor is it plausible that FHFA would ever have had a policy of consenting to extinguish Enterprise liens, as such a policy would effectively cede valuable property interests for no consideration.

In any event, even if the Court assumes—contrary to the plain language of the 2015 Statement—that FHFA broke its silence to adopt a new policy of nonconsent, that "change" would be illusory and without legal effect. Because only "affirmative consent" can waive the Federal Foreclosure Bar's protection, *Christine View*, 417 P.3d at 368, both implicit consent and express non-consent lead to the same result: protection of the Enterprise lien. Accordingly, FHFA's purported abandonment of a policy of "implicit consent" would have no legal effect, and thus could not cause SFR any harm.

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